
 
 

City of Apopka 
Planning Commission 

Meeting Agenda 
November 13, 2018 

5:30 PM @ City Council Chambers 
 
I.     CALL TO ORDER 

 
If you wish to appear before the Planning Commission, please submit a “Notice of Intent to Speak” 
card to the Recording Secretary. 
 
II.    OPENING AND INVOCATION 
 
III.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 
1 Approve minutes of the Planning Commission meeting held October 23, 2018. 
 
IV.    PUBLIC HEARING: 
 
 Administrative Future Land Use Amendments/Change of Zoning: 

 
1. Legislative – Administrative Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale – Future Land Use Amendment –From 

“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) for the property 
owned by Douglas and Jeri Bankson and located at 585 East Sandpiper Street. (Parcel Number: 03-21-28-
0000-00-068) 

 
2. Quasi-Judicial – Administrative Change of Zoning – From “County” A-2 (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 (Residential 

Country Estate) for the property owned by Douglas and Jeri Bankson and located at 585 East Sandpiper 
Street. (Parcel Number: 03-21-28-0000-00-068) 

 
3. Legislative – Administrative Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale – Future Land Use Amendment –From 

“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) for the property 
owned by William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust and located at 1163 Oakpointe Circle. 
(Parcel Number: 02-21-28-9090-00-010) 
  

4. Quasi-Judicial – Administrative Change of Zoning – From “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 (Residential 
Country Estate) for the property owned by William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust and 
located at 1163 Oakpointe Circle. (Parcel Number: 02-21-28-9090-00-010) 

 
5. Legislative – Administrative Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale – Future Land Use Amendment –From 

“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) for the property 
owned by Bryan and Debbie Nelson and located at 1157 Oakpointe Circle. (Parcel Number: 02-21-28-
9090-00-020) 

 
6. Quasi-Judicial – Administrative Change of Zoning – From “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 (Residential 

Country Estate) for the property owned by Bryan and Debbie Nelson and located at 1157 Oakpointe Circle. 
(Parcel Number: 02-21-28-9090-00-020) 



Planning Commission 
November 13, 2019 
Page 2 

 
7. Legislative – Administrative Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale – Future Land Use Amendment –From 

Mixed Use to Commercial for the property owned by Renuka Prasad and located north of West Orange 
Blossom Trail, west of S.R. 429. (Parcel Number: 01-21-27-0000-00-037) 

 
8. Quasi-Judicial – Administrative Change of Zoning – From “County” C-2 (ZIP) to “City” C-2 (General 

Commercial) for the property owned by Renuka Prasad and located north of West Orange Blossom Trail, 
west of S.R. 429. (Parcel Number: 01-21-27-0000-00-037) 

 
9. Legislative – Administrative Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale – Future Land Use Amendment –From 

“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) for the property 
owned by Carlos Verduzco and located at 1175 Oakpointe Circle. (Parcel Number: 02-21-28-7328-00-080) 

 
10. Quasi-Judicial - Administrative Change of Zoning – From “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 (Residential 

Country Estate) for the property owned by Carlos Verduzco and located at 1175 Oakpointe Circle. (Parcel 
Number: 02-21-28-7328-00-080) 

 

 Large Scale Future Land Use Amendments: 
   

11. Legislative – Comprehensive Plan – Large Scale – Future Land Use Amendment – From Rural Settlement 
to Mixed Use – Interchange for property owned by Cantero Holdings LLC and located west of Golden Gem 
Road and south of West Kelly Park Road. (Parcel ID Numbers: 13-20-27-0000-00-054; 24-20-27-0000-00-
097).  

 
12. Legislative   – Comprehensive Plan – Large Scale – Future Land Use Amendment – From Residential 

Estates to Residential Very Low Suburban for property owned By Carrol M. and Patricia A. Hamrick and 
located north of West Ponkan Road and west of Mount Sterling Avenue. (Parcel ID Numbers: 20-20-28-
0000-00-022; 20-20-28-0000-00-019). 

 
13. Legislative – Comprehensive Plan – Large Scale – Future Land Use Amendment – From Residential Low 

and Residential Low Suburban to Residential Medium Low for the property owned by Radam Investment, 
LLC and located north of South Apopka Boulevard and west of South Lake Pleasant Road. (Parcel 
Numbers: 23-21-28-0000-00-029; 23-21-28-0000-00-030; 23-21-28-0000-00-043) 

 
V.     SITE PLANS: 

 
1. Quasi-Judicial – Master Sign Plan – Amending the Master Sign Plan for property owned by Adventist 

Health System/Sunbelt Inc. and located at 2100 Ocoee Apopka Road.  
 
2. Quasi-Judicial – Final Development Plan – Special Ops Tactical Site Plan – Property owned by Property 

Industrial Enterprises, LLC, c/o Michael R. Cooper and located in the Lake Gem Commercial Industrial 
Park, Lot 8 - 655 Gem Commerce Court. 

 
VI.    OLD BUSINESS: 
 
VII.   NEW BUSINESS: 
 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT: 
 

********************************************************************************************************** 
All interested parties may appear and be heard with respect to this agenda.  Please be advised that, under state law, if you decide to appeal 
any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or hearing, you will need a record of the 
proceedings, and that, for such purpose, you may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes a 
testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.   The City of Apopka does not provide a verbatim record.    
 
In accordance with the American with Disabilities Act (ADA), persons with disabilities needing a special accommodation to participate in any 
of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk's Office at 120 East Main Street, Apopka, FL  32703, telephone (407) 703-1704, no less 
than 48 hours prior to the proceeding. 
  



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 
5:30 P.M. IN THE CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, APOPKA, FLORIDA. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Robert Ryan, and Butch Stanley 
 
ABSENT: John Sprinkle, Orange County Public Schools (Non-voting) 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  James Hitt, FRA-RA – Community Development Director, David Moon, AICP - 
Planning Manager, Richard Earp – City Engineer, Jacob Schumer – City Attorney, Pamela Richmond, 
AICP, - Senior Planner, Jean Sanchez – Planner II, and Jeanne Green – Recording Secretary  
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Craig Cornelison, Stephen Allen, Christopher Allen, David Boers, Andrew 
Klein, Ed Burchett, Marcella Burchett, Theresa Sargeant – Apopka Chief   
 
OPENING AND INVOCATION:  Chairperson Greene called the meeting to order and asked for a 
moment of silent prayer.  The Pledge of Allegiance followed. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Chairperson Greene asked if there were any additional corrections or 
additions to the regular meeting minutes of September 11, 2018, at 5:30 p.m.   
 
Motion: Robert Ryan made a motion to approve the Planning Commission minutes from the 

regular meeting held on September 11, 2018, at 5:30 p.m. and seconded by Butch 
Stanley. Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Robert Ryan, and 
Butch Stanley (4-0).  

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – 7-ELEVEN REBUILD - Chairperson 
Greene stated this is a request to find the 7-Eleven Rebuild Final Development Plan consistent with the 
Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan; and recommend approval of Final Development Plan, 
subject to the Condition of Approval and the findings of the staff report for the property owned by 7-
Eleven Inc. c/o Craig Cornelison, P.E., and located at 2229 East Semoran Boulevard. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No one 
spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred.  
 
Mr. Ryan stated that he had visited the site.   
 
Staff Presentation:  Jean Sanchez, Planner II, stated this is a request to find the 7-Eleven Rebuild Final 
Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan; and 
recommend approval of Final Development Plan, subject to the Condition of Approval and the findings of 
the staff report for the property owned by 7-Eleven Inc., and located at 2229 East Semoran Boulevard. 
The engineer is Cornelison Engineering & Design, Inc., c/o Craig Cornelison, P.E. The future land use is 
Commercial and the zoning is C-2 (General Commercial).  The existing and proposed use is a service 
station and convenience store.  The proposed building size is 4,799 square feet (3,519 square feet existing; 
1,280 square feet additional proposed).  The floor area ration is 0.086 (0.25 Maximum).  The tract size is 
1.279 +/- acres. 
 
This is a request to approve the 7-Eleven Rebuild – Final Development Plan/Site Plan that includes an 
additional square footage of 1,280 to an existing building area of 2,655 square feet for convenience store.  
The car wash area will remain the same with the existing area of 884 square feet.  This project has been 
determined as a redevelopment plan based on Section 6.07(A) Hardship Waiver of the Land Development 
Code (LDC) as it meets the following criteria: 
 

1. Existing structure ten years of age or greater. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
2 of 10 

 

 
 

2. The proposed improvements enhance the economic value of the property. 
 

3. The proposed improvements enhance the esthetics of the project site. 
 

4. The developer/owner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Development Review Committee 
(DRC) the proposed improvements would not adversely impact any surrounding properties. 

 
5. Proposed improvements are less than 50 percent of the value of the property improvements. 

  
A total of 33 parking spaces will be provided as required by Code, one of which is reserved as a handicap 
accessible parking spaces. 
 
This project has full access to SR 436 (Semoran Boulevard). 
 
The height of the proposed building is 22 feet, below the maximum allowable height of 35 feet.  As a part 
of the rebuild, applicant has proposed amendments to the façade of the build and Staff has found the 
proposed building façade elevations to be in accordance with the City’s Development Design Guidelines. 
   
The stormwater management system includes an on-site retention area, on the northwestern portion of the 
site.  The stormwater pond design meets the City’s Land Development Code requirements based on this 
project. 
 
As part of the development plan approval, existing landscaping that are decayed will be removed and 
replaced.  Landscaping will meet the current Code to the greatest extent possible.  As this is a 
redevelopment plan, the required 10-foot wide landscaped buffer adjacent to a right-of-way has been has 
been reduced to the existing width of 5-feet adjacent to Wekiwa Springs Road Springs Road and Semoran 
Boulevard.  Oak trees on the western perimeter are to be preserved and red maple trees are added to the 
north boundary abutting Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Plaza.  Wax myrtles and crape myrtles are placed 
along the corner perimeter adjacent to Wekiwa Springs Road and Semoran Boulevard. 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the 7-Eleven Rebuild – Final 
Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission find the 7-Eleven Rebuild – Final Development Plan 
consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and recommend approval of the 
Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council to 
approve, deny, or approve with conditions based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Development Code. 
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and 
made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
In response to a question by Mr. Ryan, Craig Cornelison, Cornelison Engineering & Design, Inc., 38039 
Old 5th Ave, Zephyrhills, stated the entrance and handicapped parking will be relocated to face east or 
front Wekiva Springs Road.  He said the existing door located on the south side of the building will be 
removed. 
 
Mr. Ryan expressed his dismay with the incorrect directional labeling on the site plan.  He stated it was 
very confusing. 
 
In response to a question by Chairperson Greene, Mr. Cornelison stated he did not have a presentation and 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
3 of 10 

 

was available to answer questions. 
 
 
Motion:   Robert Ryan made a motion to Table the 7-Eleven Rebuild Final Development Plan 

due to inconsistencies of directional labeling on the site plan causing confusion as to 
how the building and handicapped parking will be placed on the property. 

 
The motion died due to a lack of a Second. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson 
Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Butch Stanley made a motion to find the 7-Eleven Rebuild – Final Development Plan 

consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and 
recommend approval of the Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of the 
staff report and the condition that the applicant provide corrected plans prior to it 
going to City Counicl, for the property owned by 7-Eleven Inc., and located at 2229 
East Semoran Boulevard. Motion seconded by Linda Laurendeau.  Aye votes were 
cast by James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, and Butch Stanley.  Robert Ryna voted 
No. (3-1). (Vote taken by poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – APOPKA BUSINESS COMPLEX 
ADDITION - Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to find the Apopka Business Complex Addition 
– Final Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and 
recommend approval of Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report and the public 
hearing findings for VAR18-02 Little Brownie Property for the property owned by Brownie Properties, 
Inc. and located at 1350 Sheeler Avenue. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No one 
spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
Staff Presentation:  Ms. Sanchez stated this is a request to find the Apopka Business Complex Addition 
Final Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and 
recommend approval of Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report and the public 
hearing findings for VAR18-02 Little Brownie Property for the property owned by Brownie Properties, 
Inc. and located at 1350 Sheeler Avenue. The engineer is CivilCorp Engineering, Inc. c/o Stephen Allen, 
P.E.  The future land use is Industrial and the zoning is I-1 (Restricted Industrial).  The existing use is 
industrial in nature and the proposed use is light industrial and flex space for product storage and private 
offices.  The proposed building size is 30,050 sq. ft. with a floor area ratio of 0.36 (0.60 Maximum).  The 
overall tract size is 21.15 +/- acres with the area of construction/development being 1.79 +/- acres. 
 
This is a request to approve the Apopka Business Complex – Final Development Plan that comprises of 
development approximately 1.8 acres of area on the southern portion of a tract of over 21 acres of existing 
light industrial uses.  The proposed building is 30,050 square in size dedicated to light industrial flexible 
use space that includes product storage with private offices.  The proposed building replaces two smaller 
existing buildings onsite to be demolished. 

The City’s Land Development Code addressing parking requirements is broad with regard to industrial 
land uses. In the case of this project, the closest category, Industrial, would require 75 total parking 
spaces. The applicant believes the LDC over generates the number of parking spaces required for the 
activities that will occupy the new buildings and would like the number of parking spaces reduced to 42. 
To substantiate this, an Alternative Parking Analysis was submitted to support a reduction in the required 
number of parking spaces for this project from approximately .25 parking spaces/1,000 square feet GFA 
(calculated using the requirements in the City’s Land Development Code) to .14 parking spaces/1,000 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
4 of 10 

 

square feet GFA. The analysis used a methodology and data from the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers Parking Generation Manual, 4th Edition as allowed by the City’s Land Development Code. 
Based on this analysis, 39 parking spaces (.13 parking spaces/1,000 square feet GFA) would sufficiently 
serve this development. Staff finds the analysis supports the reduction of parking spaces from 75 to 42. 
 
Access to the site will remain via Sheeler Road, Modifications to the access connection are not required. 
 
The new development is estimated to generate 209 Daily trips and 29 PM Peak Hour trips. After 
subtracting the estimated trip generation for the 2 buildings being demolished, the net new trip generation 
estimate is 178 Daily trips and 24 PM Peak hour trips. 
 
Because this project generates less than 400 Daily trips, a Traffic Impact Analysis was not required. Staff 
reviewed the existing traffic volumes on Sheeler Road in the vicinity and verified sufficient capacity is 
available to accommodate this slight increase in Daily and PM Peak Hour traffic. 
   
Per the City Engineer, no impervious surface is increasing or added, therefore, no stormwater system is 
required. 
 
As part of the development plan approval, understory trees and a hedge are lined along the southern 
boundary.  Sabal Palms, Ligustrum Trees and Holly Trees will be used due to the restrictions created by 
the 15-foot wide power easement adjacent to the existing access easement being utilized by homeowners 
adjacent to the southern boundary of the project site.  In addition to the landscaping, the site plan shows a 
wall buffer adjacent to the existing residential subdivision on the south at the length of the area of 
development.   
 
Based on the following arbor assessment, the applicant will be providing 94.5 tree inches onsite and 13 
inches of non-specimen inches will be removed: 
 
 Arbor Assessment 
Total inches on area of development (before removal): 127 
Total specimen inches removed 0 
Total non-specimen inches removed 13 
Total inches retained: 114 
Total inches added: 94.5 
Total inches post development:                       208.5 
 
At the Planning Commission meeting on April 10, 2018, a variance, VAR18-02 Little Brownie 
Properties, was approved for the subject property allowing a 20 foot reduction from the required 50-foot 
wide landscape buffer approximately 764 linear feet along the southern property line, measured westward 
from the Sheeler Avenue right-of-way.  
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Apopka Business Complex Addition – 
Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report and the public hearing findings for 
VAR18-02 Little Brownie Property. 
 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission find the Apopka Business Complex Addition – Final 
Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and 
recommend approval of Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report and the public 
hearing findings for VAR18-02 Little Brownie Property. 
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council to 
approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code. 
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and 
made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
5 of 10 

 

 
 
In response to a question by Chairperson Greene, Steve Allen, CivilCorp Engineering, Inc., 630 North 
Wymore Road, Suite 310, Maitland, stated they were in agreement with the staff report and he was 
available to answer any questions. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson 
Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Linda Laurendeau made a motion to find the Apopka Business Complex Addition 

Final Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and 
Comprehensive Plan; and recommend approval of Final Development Plan, subject 
to the findings of this staff report and the public hearing findings for VAR18-02 
Little Brownie Property for the property owned by Brownie Properties, Inc. and 
located at 1350 Sheeler Avenue.. Motion seconded by Butch Stanley.  Aye votes were 
cast by James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Robert Ryan, and Butch Stanley (4-0). 
(Vote taken by poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – MEADOW VIEW APARTMENTS - 
Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to find the Meadow View Apartments Final Development Plan 
consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan; and recommend approval of Final 
Development Plan, subject to the findings of the staff report for the property owned by Allonde 
Development, LLC and located at 1611 Vick Road. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No one 
spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Pamela Richmond, AICP, Senior Planner, stated this is a request to find the Meadow 
View Apartments Final Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and 
Comprehensive Plan; and recommend approval of Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of the 
staff report for the property owned by Allonde Development, LLC and located at 1611 Vick Road. The 
engineer is CivilCorp Engineering, Inc. c/o Stephen Allen, P.E.  The future land use is Residential 
Medium and the zoning is R-3.  The current use is vacant land and the proposed use is a luxury apartment 
complex.  The tract size is 4.314 +/- acres. 
 
This is a request to approve Meadow View Apartments Final Development Plan. This project is proposed 
as a five building, 43 unit, two-story luxury apartment complex. There will be 4 one-bedroom units, 30 
two-bedroom units, and 9 three-bedroom units. The one-bedroom units will be 771 square feet; the two-
bedroom units will be 977 square feet; and the three-bedroom units will be 1,133 square feet. There are 
two building types. Building Type “A”, of which there are three, is 18,953 square feet and will house nine 
units each. Building Type “B”, of which there are two, is 8,088 square feet and will house eight units 
each. 
 
Meadow View Apartments will have additional amenities that distinguish it as a luxury apartment 
complex. The Final Development Plan includes development conditions that amenities will  include 
wireless internet access, balcony/porches, a fitness center, a resort style swimming pool and clubhouse, 
walk-in shower, walk-in closets, full size washer and dryer in each unit, granite counter tops and 9 foot 
ceilings. 
 
The site is significantly sloped from south to north. On the northwest side, the property slopes down 
approximately 16 feet over a 10 foot distance. Ten-foot retaining walls are required to support the 
buildings on the west side of the property. 
      



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
6 of 10 

 

The Land Development Code requires 2 parking spaces per apartment for a total of 86 parking spaces, 
including 5 handicapped parking. This project is providing 98 parking spaces plus 5 handicapped parking 
spaces for a total of 103 parking spaces to ensure accommodation of overflow parking when needed.   
 
Access to the site is provided through a single entrance on Vick Road, north of Welch Road. A site 
distance issue exists due to the curve and elevation of Vick Road north of the entrance. To ensure the 
safety of residents entering and exiting the site as well as northbound and southbound traffic traveling on 
Vick Road, a condition of approval has been placed on the plan, requiring the developer and future 
property owner to trim back the trees and shrubs located in the City’s right-of-way on the east side of the 
road, approximately 280 feet north of the site entrance. 
 
A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was submitted for this project that assessed the impacts on the 
transportation facilities within one mile of the site. The project is anticipated to generate 384 Daily trips 
and 26 PM Peak Hour net new trips. The following roadway segments were analyzed for capacity in the 
study: Welch Road from Vick Road to Rock Springs Road; Lester Road from Vick Road to Rock Springs 
Road and Vick Road to Schopke Lester Road; and Vick Road from Old Dixie Highway to Martin Street, 
Martin Street to Welch Road, Welch Road to Lake Francis Drive, Lake Francis Drive to Lester Road, and 
Lester Road to Ponkan Road.  The roadway segment analysis demonstrates sufficient capacity exists on 
both roadways to accommodate the addition of trips generated by this project.  
 

 The intersection of Vick Road and Welch Road was analyzed for existing and future conditions for the 
PM Peak Hour. The analysis shows that the intersection is currently operating satisfactorily and will 
continue to operate at satisfactory LOS in the projected conditions.  
 
Warrants for left and right turn deceleration lanes on Vick Road at the Meadow View driveway were 
conducted to determine if auxiliary turn lanes are necessary to maintain the integrity of traffic flow and 
capacity of the road during the peak hours. Neither turn lanes were warranted, however, for safety 
purposes, the applicant has agreed to install a left turn lane at the site entrance. 
 
The height of the proposed two-story buildings is 31 feet, falling below the maximum allowable height of 
35'.  Staff finds the proposed building elevations meet the intent of the City’s Development Design 
Guidelines. 
   
Stormwater will be captured and attenuated through an underground exfiltration system. 
 
The applicant is required to trim back the trees and shrubs located in the City’s right-of-way on the east 
side of Vick Road and ensure the future property owner maintains a clear line of site from the project 
entrance. Also, the applicant is required to install a left turn lane on Vick Road at the site entrance. 
 
The landscape buffers and site landscaping will be artfully arranged with Sabal Palms, Podocarpus 
Shrubs, Walter’s Viburnum, Drift Rose, Gold mound Duranta, Dwarf Yaupon Holly, and Dwarf Asiatic 
Jasmine. All plant materials will be “Florida Friendly”.   
 
As part of the development plan approval, 22 Live Oaks, 24 Magnolias, 19 Red Cedars, 25 Crepe 
Myrtles, and 19 Eagleston Holly trees will be planted on the site. Tree mitigation is required for 469 
inches dbh. The proposed Tree Bank payment is $4,960.00 (496 inches X $10.00/inch). 
 
 Arbor Assessment 
Total inches on-site: 1,922 
Total inches removed 1,384 
Total inches retained: 494 
Total inches added:       372 
Total inches post development:                       866 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Meadow View Apartments Final 
Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
7 of 10 

 

 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission find the Meadow View Apartments Final Development 
Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and recommend approval of 
Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council to 
approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code. 
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and 
made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
In response to concerns raised by Mr. Ryan, Mr. Cornelison stated they would add a handicapped parking 
space in front of Building 1 and Building 5 for a total of two additional handicapped spaces. 
 
In response to a question by Chairperson Greene, Mr. Cornelison stated he did not have a presentation and 
was available to answer questions. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson 
Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Linda Laurendeau made a motion to find the Meadow View Apartments Final 

Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive 
Plan; and recommend approval of Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of 
the staff report and the condition to add a handicapped parking space in front of 
Building 1 and Building 5 for a total of two additional handicapped parking spaces 
for the property owned by Allonde Development, LLC and located at 1611 Vick 
Road. Motion seconded by Robert Ryan.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, 
Linda Laurendeau, Robert Ryan, and Butch Stanley (4-0). (Vote taken by poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – STERLING TITLE - Chairperson Greene 
stated this is a request to find the Sterling Title Final Development Plan consistent with the Land 
Development Code and Comprehensive Plan; and recommend approval of Final Development Plan, 
subject to the findings of the staff report for the property owned by Prograde Homes, Inc. c/o Bryan Blake 
and located at 217 South Highland Avenue. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No one 
spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Ms. Sanchez stated this is a request to find the Sterling Title Final Development Plan 
consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan; and recommend approval of Final 
Development Plan, subject to the findings of the staff report for the property owned by Prograde Homes, 
Inc. c/o Bryan Blake and located at 217 South Highland Avenue.  The engineer is Linn Engineering and 
Design c/o Eric Lagassey, P.E.  The future land use is Commercial and the zoning is C-1 (Retail 
Commercial).  The exising use is residential and the proposed use is an office.  The proposed building 
size is 1,337 sq. ft. with a 0.12 (0.25 Maximum) floor area ration.   The tract size is 0.26 +/- acres. 
 
This is a request to approve the Sterling Title Redevelopment Final Development Plan that includes 
conversion of an existing residential structure with 1,337 square feet.  A preliminary development plan is 
not required for development proposing less than 10,000 square feet of building floor area.  No square 
footage will be added to the existing building, which a one being converted from residential use to 
commercial use.  No existing canopy trees are proposed to be removed.  This project has been determined 
as a redevelopment plan based on Section 6.07(A) Hardship Waiver of the Land Development Code 
(LDC) as it meets the following criteria: 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
8 of 10 

 

 
1. Existing structure ten years of age or greater. 

 
2. The proposed improvements enhance the economic value of the property. 

 
3. The proposed improvements enhance the esthetics of the project site. 

 
4. The developer/owner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Development Review Committee 

(DRC) the proposed improvements would not adversely impact any surrounding properties.  
 

5. Proposed improvements are less than 50 percent of the value of the property improvements. 
  

Per LDC parking requirements, 5 parking spaces are required and being proposed, one of which is 
reserved as a handicapped accessible space.  As a redevelopment, the applicant is requesting to reduce the 
required minimum length of a tandem parking space from 18-feet to 16-feet. 
 
The site will have ingress and egress via Highland Avenue.  Due to the area restrictions of the site, the 
applicant is requesting to reduce the required minimum width of a one-way drive aisle from 18-feet to 11-
feet, as well as, a request to reduce the required minimum width of a two-way internal drive aisle from 
24-feet to 16-feet. 
 
According to LDC Section 6.07(C), adjustments to requirements, parking. The DRC may, in accordance 
with this site plan application, authorize parking requirements upon demonstration by the developer that 
the characteristics of the proposed use required a greater or lesser number of parking spaces than that 
required or proposed. 
   
The stormwater management system includes an on-site retention area, on the eastern portion of the 
project site.  The stormwater pond design meets the City’s Land Development Code requirements. 
 
As part of the redevelopment plan approval, four specimen oak trees ranging from 24 inches to 48 inches 
in diameter at breast height (DBH) will be preserved.  A row of Japanese Holly trees will be added to the 
south façade of the building.  Red Bud, King Sago and Crape Myrtle trees will be planted to embellish the 
entrance and driveway.  As no trees will be removed, there is no arbor mitigation fee is due based on the 
following arbor assessment. 
 
 Arbor Assessment 
Total inches on-site (before removal): 124 
Total specimen inches removed 0 
Total inches retained: 124 
Total inches added: 3 
Total inches post development:                       127 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Sterling Title Final Development 
Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission find the Sterling Title Final Development Plan consistent 
with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and recommend approval of Final 
Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council to 
approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code. 
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and 
made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
In response to a question by Chairperson Greene, Eric Lagassey, Linn Engineering and Design, 711 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
9 of 10 

 

Executive Drive, Winter Park, stated he did not have a presentation. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson 
Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
 
Motion:   Butch Stanley made a motion to find the Sterling Title Final Development Plan 

consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and 
recommend approval of Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff 
report for the property owned by Prograde Homes, Inc. c/o Bryan Blake and located 
at 217 South Highland Avenue.  Motion seconded by Robert Ryan.  Aye votes were 
cast by James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Robert Ryan, and Butch Stanley (4-0). 
(Vote taken by poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – PLAT – CARRIAGE HILL, PHASE II, SUBDIVISION - Chairperson Greene 
stated this is a request to find the proposed Carriage Hill, Phase II, Subdivision Plat consistent with the 
Land Development Code and PUD Master Plan, and recommend approval of the Carriage Hill Phase II 
Subdivision – Plat, subject to the findings of the staff report, for the property owned by JTD Land at 
Rogers Rd. LLC, and located at 1455 West Lester Road. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No one 
spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Ms. Sanchez stated this is a request to find the proposed Carriage Hill, Phase II, 
Subdivision Plat consistent with the Land Development Code and PUD Master Plan, and recommend 
approval of the Carriage Hill Phase II Subdivision – Plat, subject to the findings of the staff report, for the 
property owned by JTD Land at Rogers Rd. LLC, and located at 1455 West Lester Road.  The engineer is 
Dewberry Engineers, Inc. c/o Christopher Allen, P.E.  The future land use is Residential Low Suburban 
(Max 3.5 du/ac) and the zoning is R-1 (Single Family Residential).  The existing use is vacant land and 
the proposed use is a single-family residential subdivision with 15 lots.  The lots will be a minimum of 
9,000 sq. ft. and the width will be a minimum of 75 ft.  The proposed density is 1.69 du/ac.  The overall 
tract size is 10.31 +/- acres of which 8.89 +/- acres are developable. 
 
The Carriage Hill Phase II Subdivision – Plat proposes the development of 15 single family residential 
lots.  The minimum typical lot width is 75 feet with a minimum lot size of 9,000 square feet.  Lots 
abutting the Oak Hill Reserve neighborhood are 11,996 sq. ft. to 21,046 sq. ft.  The required minimum 
living area for a house in this subdivision is 1,500 square feet as set forth in Chapter 2 of the Land 
Development Code for single-family lots located within the R-1 zoning. 
 
Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via full access onto Rogers Road as approved in 
Phase I of the Carriage Hill Subdivision. 
 
A school concurrency mitigation agreement has been executed and a copy of the letter from Orange 
County Public Schools (OCPS) has been supplied to Staff. 
 
The County was notified at the time of the plat application for this property through the DRC agenda 
distribution. 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the Carriage Hill Phase II Subdivision – Plat to be consistent 
with the Preliminary Development Plan, subject to the findings of the staff report. 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission to find the proposed plat consistent with the Land 
Development Code and PUD Master Plan, and recommend approval of the Carriage Hill Phase II 
Subdivision Plat, subject to the findings of the staff report for the property owned by JTD Land at Rogers 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 23, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 
10 of 10 

 

Rd. LLC, and located at 1455 West Lester Road.   
 
The role of the Planning Commission is to advise the City Council to approve or deny the proposed plat 
for the Carriage Hill Phase II Subdivision Plat based on consistency with the approved Preliminary 
Development Plan, Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code and subject to the finding of the 
staff report. 
 
This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and 
made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
In response to a question by Chairperson Greene, Christopher Allen, Dewberry Engineers, Inc.  800 North 
Magnolia Avenue, Suite 1000, Orlando, stated he did not have a presentation.  
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson 
Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Butch Stanley made a motion to find the proposed plat consistent with the Land 

Development Code and PUD Master Plan, and recommend approval of the Carriage 
Hill Phase II Subdivision Plat, subject to the findings of the staff report for the 
property owned by JTD Land at Rogers Rd. LLC, and located at 1455 West Lester 
Road.  Motion seconded by Linda Laurendeau.  Aye votes were cast by James 
Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Robert Ryan, and Butch Stanley (4-0). (Vote taken by 
poll.) 

 
OLD BUSINESS:  None 
  
NEW BUSINESS:  None 
 
ADJOURNMENT:   The meeting was adjourned at 6:09 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
James Greene, Chairperson 
 
 
 
 
James K. Hitt, FRA-RA 
Community Development Director 
 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND 

USE AMENDMENT – DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU/AC) 

  TO: “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNERS: Douglas and Jeri Bankson 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: 585 E. Sandpiper Street 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family House 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” A-2 (ZIP-Zoning in Progress) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family House 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed 

along with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” A-2 (ZIP)  
to “City” RCE-1 (Residential Country Estates 1 District). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.92 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    7 Dwelling Units 

    PROPOSED:  3 Dwelling Units 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 2 

 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on October 16, 2013 by 

Ordinance Number 2333.  Presently, the subject property is without a “city” future land use and zoning 

designation. The proposed Future Land Use, “Residential Very Low Suburban” is compatible with the 

property due to its size and existing uses. In addition, “Residential Very Low Suburban” can be found in 

the vicinity of the property, including the south-adjacent subdivision, Lakeshore at Wekiva.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the density 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies 

support a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 
Policy 3.1.c  
 
Very Low Density Suburban Residential  
 
The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 
middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.  
 
Special exception uses shall include: 
  

1) Institutional uses of five acres or less 
  
2) High schools 
 
3) Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of two acres or more 
 
4) Horticultural nurseries as a primary use;  

 
Planned Development uses may include:  
 

(1) All primary uses  
 
(2) All special exception uses  
 
(3) Neighborhood commercial uses at a rate not in excess of 25 square feet of gross floor area per 

residential unit in the PUD. Commercial uses must be completely internalized within the PUD.  
 
(4) Other uses deemed compatible with and complementary to the other proposed master planned uses 

and the surrounding neighborhoods 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018. 

 

 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 3 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief); Property owner(s) were notified of 
the hearing schedule via U.S. Postal Service mail.  
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by Douglas and 

Jeri Bankson, and located at 585 E. Sandpiper Road. 

 
Planning Commission Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed Future Land Use amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and 
recommend approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from “County” Low Density 
Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 
 

Note: This item is considered legislative and establishes general policy.  The staff report and its 

findings are to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 4 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

 
I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2 Single Family Home 

East (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2 Single Family Home 

South (City) “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” PUD Lakeshore at Wekiva 
Subdivision 

West (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2 Single Family Home 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 
The subject property currently contains one dwelling unit, which makes the request for a Residential Very Low 
Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, as well as 
the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 
 
Properties in all four cardinal directions are of a sparse residential nature. The Future Land Use designation, 
“Residential Very Low Suburban” preserves a sparse residential nature.  
 
The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future land 
use character of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement on 
October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed FLUM 
Amendment request for a change from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
are the property owners of the proposed future land use amendment and proposed change of zoning for the 
property, and have been notified of the hearing schedule.   
 
 Transportation: Road access to the site is from E. Sandpiper Street 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the adopted 
Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the adopted 
mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been reviewed 
against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted 
Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 5 

 
Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is a single family home. 

 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future land 
use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC). Based on the housing element 
of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 
 
CALCULATIONS: 
ADOPTED: 7 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 18 persons 
PROPOSED: 3 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h =   7 persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is not required 
for developments less than ten (10) acres in size.   
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to Chapter 
3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD / 
Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:    1,372   GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   588   GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: None 
 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 GPD / 
Capita 

  
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     3,178   GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    1,362  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 
None 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 6 

 
8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 
 Solid Waste 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 
 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 
Apopka 

 
3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     72    lbs/  day 

 
4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   28    lbs /  day 

 
5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None  
 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:     Lake Prevatt      
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  25 year – 96 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  25 year – 96 hour design storm 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
 Recreation 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 
 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.054  acres 
 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.021    acres 
 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 
amendment: None 

 
Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide parkland 
and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development.    This initial review 
does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development approval. 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 7 

 

Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
1.92 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” A-2 (ZIP) 
To: “City” RCE-1 

Parcel ID #: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Apopka Community Dev. Dept., October 2018 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 8 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 
 

 Prepared by:  Apopka Community Dev. Dept., October 2018 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 9 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by:  Apopka Community Dev. Dept., October 2018 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BANKSON 

PAGE 10 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Source: Orange County Property Appraiser Aerial, January 2018 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” A-2 (ZIP) 

  TO: “CITY” RCE-1 (RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATE) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNERS: Douglas and Jeri Bankson 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: 585 E. Sandpiper Street 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family House 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” A-2 (ZIP) 

 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with a 

request to change the Future Land Use from “County” Low Density Residential (4 
du/ac) to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.92 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    3 Dwelling Units 

    PROPOSED:  1 Dwelling Units 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - BANKSON 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The subject parcel was annexed into the city on October 16, 2013 by Ordinance Number 2333.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The RCE-1 zoning is compatible 
with the property due to the size and uses. The change of zoning request is being processed in conjunction 
with a future land use amendment from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/Acre) Future Land Use designation and the 
City’s RCE-1 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the Future 
Land Use policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  
 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 -- Public Notice and Notification- (Apopka Chief, letter to property owner) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” A-2 (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Douglas and Jeri 
Bankson, and located at 585 E. Sandpiper Road. 
 
Recommended Motion: Find the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, and recommend approval of the proposed Change 
of Zoning from “County” A-2 to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Douglas and Jeri Bankson, and 
located at 585 E. Sandpiper Road. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - BANKSON 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2 Single Family Home 

East (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2  Single Family Home 

South (City) “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” PUD Lakeshore at Wekiva Subdivision 

West (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2  Single Family Home 

 
 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from E. Sandpiper Road. The 

subject property, along with other properties in the vicinity, are of a 

large-lot, residential nature. The requirements found in RCE-1 

zoning, along with the Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land 

Use can assist in maintaining a large-lot, sparse density nature.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 
DU/AC) and with the character of the surrounding area and future 
proposed development. Development Plans shall not exceed the 
density allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation. 

 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - BANKSON 

PAGE 4 

 

Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
1.92 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” A-2 (ZIP) 
To: “City” RCE-1 

Parcel ID #: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Apopka Community Dev. Dept., October 2018 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - BANKSON 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Apopka Community Dev. Dept., October 2018 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - BANKSON 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Orange County Property Appraiser Aerial, January 2018 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND 

USE AMENDMENT – WILLIAM D. COOK AND ROBYN D. COOK REVOCABLE 

TRUST 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU/AC) 

  TO: “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNERS: William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: 1163 Oakpoint Circle 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family House 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family House 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed 

along with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
to “City” RCE-1 (Residential Country Estates 1 District). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.27 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    5 Dwelling Units 

    PROPOSED:  2 Dwelling Units 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by 

Ordinance Number 2516. Presently, the subject property is without a “city” future land use and zoning 

designation. The proposed Future Land Use, “Residential Very Low Suburban” is compatible with the 

property due to its size and existing uses. In addition, “Residential Very Low Suburban” can be found in 

the vicinity of the property, including the north-adjacent subdivision, Lakeshore at Wekiva.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies 

support a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 

Future Land Use Element 

 

Policy 3.1.c  

 

Very Low Density Suburban Residential  

 

The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 

middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.  

 

Special exception uses shall include: 

  

1) Institutional uses of five acres or less  

 

2)  High schools 

 

3)  Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of two acres or more 

 

4)  Horticultural nurseries as a primary use;  

 

Planned Development uses may include:  

 

(1) All primary uses  

 

(2)  All special exception uses  

 

(3)  Neighborhood commercial uses at a rate not in excess of 25 square feet of gross floor area per 

residential unit in the PUD. Commercial uses must be completely internalized within the PUD.  

 

(4)  Other uses deemed compatible with and complementary to the other proposed master planned 

uses and the surrounding neighborhoods 

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 

increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  

Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 

Agreement  

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 3 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
 

November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by William D. 

Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust and located at 1163 Oakpoint Road. 
 
Planning Commission Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed Future Land Use amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and 
recommend approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from “County” Low Density 
Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 
 

Note: This item is considered legislative and establishes general policy.  The staff report and its 

findings are to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” RVLS and “County” LDR “City” PUD and 

“County” RCE 

Vacant Subdivision Lot (Lakeshore 

at Wekiva) and Single Family Home 

East  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP)  “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 

 

The subject property currently contains one dwelling unit, which makes the request for a Residential Very 

Low Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, 

as well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 

 

Properties in all four cardinal directions are of a sparse residential nature. The Future Land Use designation, 

“Residential Very Low Suburban” preserves a sparse residential nature.  

 

The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future 

land use character of the surrounding area.  

 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No 

 

 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 

on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed 

FLUM Amendment request for a change from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very 

Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  William D. Cook 

and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust are the property owners of the proposed future land use amendment 

and proposed change of zoning for the property, and have been notified of the hearing schedule.   

 

 Transportation: Road access to the site is from Oakpoint Circle 

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 5 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   

 

Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is a single family home. 

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC). Based on the housing 

element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 

 

CALCULATIONS: 

ADOPTED: 5 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 13 persons 

PROPOSED: 2 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h =   5 persons 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is not 

required for developments less than ten (10) acres in size.   

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:    980     GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   392   GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 6 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     2,270   GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    908    GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     52    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   20    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None         



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 7 

 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 

capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.039  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.015    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

  

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 

parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development.    This 

initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development 

approval. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 8 

 

William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 
1.27 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 
To: “City” RCE-1 

Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 
 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - COOK 

PAGE 11 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – WILLIAM D. COOK AND ROBYN D. 

COOK REVOCABLE TRUST 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) 

  TO: “CITY” RCE-1 (RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATE) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNERS: William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: 1163 Oakpoint Circle 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family House 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP) 

 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with a 

request to change the Future Land Use from “County” Low Density Residential (4 
du/ac) to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.27 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    2 Dwelling Units 

    PROPOSED:  1 Dwelling Units 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – COOK 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by Ordinance Number 2516.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The RCE-1 zoning is compatible 
with the property due to the size and uses. The change of zoning request is being processed in conjunction 
with a future land use amendment from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/Acre) Future Land Use designation and the 
City’s RCE-1 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the density allowed by the Future Land 
Use policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
Planning Commission, November 13, 2018 (5:30 pm) 
City Council, December 5, 2018 (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 
City Council, December 19, 2018 (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
 
November 2, 2018 -- Public Notice and Notification- (Apopka Chief, letter to property owner) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
  
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by William D. Cook 
and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust, and located at 1163 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, and recommend approval of the proposed Change 
of Zoning from “County” A-2 to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by William D. Cook and Robyn D. 
Cook Revocable Trust, and located at 1163 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – COOK 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North “City” RVLS and “County” LDR “City” PUD and 

“County” RCE 

Vacant Subdivision Lot (Lakeshore 

at Wekiva) and Single Family Home 

East “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP)  “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from Oakpoint Circle. The subject 

property, along with other properties in the vicinity, are of a large-lot, 

residential nature. The requirements found in RCE-1 zoning, along 

with the Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use can assist 

in maintaining a large-lot, sparse density nature.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 

DU/AC) and with the character of the surrounding area and future 

proposed development. Development Plans shall not exceed the 

density allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – COOK 

PAGE 4 

 

William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 
1.27 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – COOK 

PAGE 5 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – COOK 

PAGE 6 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND 

USE AMENDMENT – BRYAN AND DEBBIE NELSON 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU/AC) 

  TO: “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNERS: Bryan and Debbie Nelson 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: 1157 Oakpoint Circle 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family House 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family House 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed 

along with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
to “City” RCE-1 (Residential Country Estates 1 District). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.27 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    5 Dwelling Units 

    PROPOSED:  2 Dwelling Units 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by 

Ordinance Number 2515.  Presently, the subject property is without a “city” future land use and zoning 

designation. The proposed Future Land Use, “Residential Very Low Suburban” is compatible with the 

property due to its size and existing uses. In addition, “Residential Very Low Suburban” can be found in 

the vicinity of the property, including the north-adjacent subdivision, Lakeshore at Wekiva.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies 

support a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 

Future Land Use Element 

 

Policy 3.1.c  

 

Very Low Density Suburban Residential  

 

The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 

middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.  

 

Special exception uses shall include: 

  

1) Institutional uses of five acres or less  

 

2)  High schools 

 

3)  Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of two acres or more 

 

4)  Horticultural nurseries as a primary use;  

 

Planned Development uses may include:  

 

(1) All primary uses  

 

(2)  All special exception uses  

 

(3)  Neighborhood commercial uses at a rate not in excess of 25 square feet of gross floor area per 

residential unit in the PUD. Commercial uses must be completely internalized within the PUD.  

 

(4)  Other uses deemed compatible with and complementary to the other proposed master planned 

uses and the surrounding neighborhoods 

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 

increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  

Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 

Agreement  

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 3 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by Bryan and 

Debbie Nelson and located at 1157 Oakpoint Road. 
 
Planning Commission Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed Future Land Use amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and 
recommend approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from “County” Low Density 
Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 
 

Note: This item is considered legislative and establishes general policy.  The staff report and its 

findings are to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” PUD  Vacant Subdivision Lot  

(Lakeshore at Wekiva) 

East  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP)  “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 

 

The subject property currently contains one dwelling unit, which makes the request for a Residential Very 

Low Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, 

as well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 

 

Properties in all four cardinal directions are of a sparse residential nature. The Future Land Use designation, 

“Residential Very Low Suburban” preserves a sparse residential nature.  

 

The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future 

land use character of the surrounding area.  

 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No 

 

 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 

on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed 

FLUM Amendment request for a change from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very 

Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  William D. Cook 

and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust are the property owners of the proposed future land use amendment 

and proposed change of zoning for the property, and have been notified of the hearing schedule.   

 

 Transportation: Road access to the site is from Oakpoint Circle 

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 5 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   

 

Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is a single family home. 

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC). Based on the housing 

element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 

 

CALCULATIONS: 

ADOPTED: 5 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 13 persons 

PROPOSED: 2 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h =   5 persons 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is not 

required for developments less than ten (10) acres in size.   

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:    980     GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   392   GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 6 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     2,270   GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    908    GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     52    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   20    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None         



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 7 

 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 

capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.039  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.015    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

  

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 

parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development.    This 

initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development 

approval. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 8 

 

Bryan and Debbie Nelson 
1.27 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 
To: “City” RCE-1 

Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 
 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 9 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 10 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - NELSON 

PAGE 11 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – BRYAN AND DEBBIE NELSON 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) 

  TO: “CITY” RCE-1 (RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATE) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNERS: Bryan and Debbie Nelson 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: 1157 Oakpoint Circle 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family House 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP) 

 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with a 

request to change the Future Land Use from “County” Low Density Residential (4 
du/ac) to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.27 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    2 Dwelling Units 

    PROPOSED:  1 Dwelling Units 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – NELSON 

PAGE 2 

 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by Ordinance Number 2515.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The RCE-1 zoning is compatible 
with the property due to the size and uses. The change of zoning request is being processed in conjunction 
with a future land use amendment from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/Acre) Future Land Use designation and the 
City’s RCE-1 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the density allowed by the Future Land 
Use policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
Planning Commission, November 13, 2018 (5:30 pm) 
City Council, December 5, 2018 (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 
City Council, December 19, 2018 (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 -- Public Notice and Notification- (Apopka Chief, letter to property owner) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
  
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Bryan and Debbie 
Nelson, and located at 1157 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Recommended Motion: Finding the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, and recommend approval of the proposed Change 
of Zoning from “County” A-2 to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Bryan and Debbie Nelson, and 
located at 1157 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – NELSON 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North “City” RVLS and “County” LDR “City” PUD Vacant Subdivision Lot  

(Lakeshore at Wekiva)  

East “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP)  “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from Oakpoint Circle. The subject 

property, along with other properties in the vicinity, are of a large-lot, 

residential nature. The requirements found in RCE-1 zoning, along 

with the Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use can assist 

in maintaining a large-lot, sparse density nature.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 

DU/AC) and with the character of the surrounding area and future 

proposed development. Development Plans shall not exceed the 

density allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – NELSON 

PAGE 4 

 

Bryan and Debbie Nelson 

1.27 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – NELSON 

PAGE 5 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – NELSON 

PAGE 6 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND 

USE AMENDMENT – RENUKA PRASAD 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT: 

  FROM: MIXED USE 

  TO: COMMERCIAL (MAX. 0.25 FAR) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNER: Renuka Prasad 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: North of West Orange Blossom Trail, west of S.R. 429 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 

EXISTING USE: Tire and Automotive Services 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Tire and Automotive Services 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” C-2 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed along 

with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” C-2 (ZIP)  to 
“City” C-2 (General Commercial). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   3.17 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    34,479 Sq. Ft. 

    PROPOSED:  34,479 Sq. Ft. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on October 7, 2009 by 

Ordinance Number 2124.  Presently, the subject property has a “city” future land use designation of Mixed 

Use, however, no “city” zoning classification has been assigned. Based on a letter from the property owner’s 

attorney, the property owner is requesting a Commercial Future Land Use Designation and C-2 Zoning. The 

property owner’s intent is to retain similar property rights/ permitted uses that were granted to the property 

when in unincorporated Orange County.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Commercial Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the 

Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies support a 

Commercial FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 

1. Policy 3.1.i  
 
Commercial 
 
Primary uses shall be for business, commerce, and convenience shopping which may be 
neighborhood or community oriented. The maximum floor area ratio shall be .25 gross floor area. 
Institutional land uses of less than five acres; and public facilities or utilities of less than five acres. 
 
Planned Unit Development uses may include: (Policy 3.1.i) 

 
1. All primary uses 

 
2. All Special Exception uses 

 
3. Multifamily Development of up to fifteen dwelling units per acre, when located within a primary 

use structure 
 

4. Other uses deemed compatible with and complimentary to the other proposed master planned 
uses and the surrounding neighborhoods.  

 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  Because this request represents a change to a non-residential future 
land use designation and zoning classification, school capacity determination by Orange County Public 
Schools is not required. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 

 

 

 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 3 

  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Commercial for the property owned by Renuka Prasad, and located at 3349 

W. Orange Blossom Trail. 
 
Planning Commission Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed Future Land Use amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and 
recommend approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from Mixed Use to Commercial, 
subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 

 

Note: This item is considered legislative and establishes general policy.  The staff report and its 

findings are to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Morrison’s Subdivision 

East (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Woodlands and Single Family Homes 

South (City) “City” Industrial “City” I-1 Copart Automotive 

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Woodlands 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 

 

The subject property is located on a site that is ideal for commercial use, which makes the request for a 

Commercial future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, as 

well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 

 

Properties to the south, on the south side of U.S. 441, are developed as industrial properties, with properties 

to the north developed as residential properties. The proposed Commercial Future Land Use will act as a 

transition between the residential and industrial properties. Furthermore, the property is accessed from the 

arterial road, West Orange Blossom Trail, with close access to the State Route 429 Interchange.  

 

The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future 

land use character of the surrounding area.  

 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No 

 

 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 

on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “West Area” of the JPA.  The proposed 

FLUM Amendment request for a change from Mixed Use to Commercial (Max. 0.25 FAR) is consistent with 

the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  Renuka Prasad is the property owner of the proposed future 

land use amendment and proposed change of zoning for the property, and has been notified of the hearing 

schedule.   

 

 Transportation: Road access to the site is from West Orange Blossom. 

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 5 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   

 

 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is an Auto Repair Facility 

and an Auto Parts Vendor. 

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Commercial (max FAR 0.25).  Based on the housing element of the 

City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population 

 

CALCULATIONS: 
ADOPTED: 1 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 3 persons 

PROPOSED: N/A, no residential 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 

for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary 

Development Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and 

submit a habitat management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project 

site. 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  5,172    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    5,172  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 6 

 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     6,896  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   6,896  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     69    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:    69    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 7 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 

capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  N/A  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  N/A    acres 

 

Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: None  

 

 Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 

parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development. 

This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 8 

 
 

Renuka Prasad 
3.17 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Mixed Use  
To: Commercial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” C-2 
Parcel ID #: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 10 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - PRASAD 

PAGE 11 

 

 

JACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING – RENUKA PRASAD 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” C-2 (ZIP) 

  TO: “CITY” C-2 (GENERAL COMMERCIAL) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNER: Renuka Prasad 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: North of West Orange Blossom Trail, west of S.R. 429 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 

EXISTING USE: Tire and Automotive Services 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Tire and Automotive Services 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” C-2 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with a 

request to amend the Future Land Use from Mixed Use to Commercial (Max. 0.25 
FAR). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   3.17 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    34,479 Sq. Ft. 

    PROPOSED:  34,479 Sq. Ft. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - PRASAD 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The applicant is requesting the City to assign a zoning classification of C-2 (General Commercial 
District) to the property. The intent for requesting “City” C-2 zoning is to retain the permitted uses that were 
once granted to the property when in Orange County, with “County” C-2 zoning.  At the time the property 
annexed into the City of Apopka, the property was used for an automobile repair business, which remains 
the current use of the property.  Automobile repair is the present use. 
 
The subject parcel was annexed into the city on October 7, 2009 by Ordinance Number 2124. 
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to C-2 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and with 
the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The change of zoning request is being 
processed in conjunction with a future land use amendment from “County” Mixed Use to “City” 
Commercial. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Commercial (Max. 25% Floor Area Ratio) Future Land Use designation and the City’s 
C-2 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the Future Land Use 
policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  Because this request represents a change to a non-residential future 
land use designation and zoning classification, school capacity determination by Orange County Public 
Schools is not required. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” C-2 (ZIP) to “City” C-2 for the property owned by Renuka Prasad, and 
located at 3349 W. Orange Blossom Trail. 
 
Recommended Motion: Finding the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, and recommend approval of the proposed Change 
of Zoning from “County” C-2 to “City” C-2 for the property owned by Renuka Prasad, and located at 3349 
W. Orange Blossom Trail. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - PRASAD 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Morrison’s Subdivision 

East (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1  Woodlands and Single Family Homes 

South (City) “City” Industrial “City” I-1 Copart Automotive 

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1  Woodlands 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from the arterial road, West Orange 

Blossom Trail. In the vicinity is the S.R. 429 interchange. With the 

given infrastructure, C-2 zoning is an adequate zoning designation for 

the subject property.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed C-2 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future Land 

Use designation, “Commercial” (Max. 25% FAR) and with the 

character of the surrounding area and future proposed development. 

Development Plans shall not exceed the density allowed in the 

adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
     
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - PRASAD 

PAGE 4 

 

Renuka Prasad 
3.17 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Mixed Use  
To: Commercial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” C-2 
Parcel ID #: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - PRASAD 

PAGE 5 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - PRASAD 

PAGE 6 

 

 

JACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND 

USE AMENDMENT – CARLOS VERDUZCO 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU/AC) 

  TO: “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNERS: Carlos Verduzco 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: 1175 Oakpoint Circle 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-080 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family House 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family House 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed 

along with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
to “City” RCE-1 (Residential Country Estates 1 District). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.14 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    4 Dwelling Units 

    PROPOSED:  2 Dwelling Units 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by 

Ordinance Number 2517.  Presently, the subject property is without a “city” future land use and zoning 

designation. The proposed Future Land Use, “Residential Very Low Suburban” is compatible with the 

property due to its size and existing uses. In addition, “Residential Very Low Suburban” can be found in 

the vicinity of the property, including the north-adjacent subdivision, Lakeshore at Wekiva.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies 

support a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 

Future Land Use Element 

 

Policy 3.1.c  

 

Very Low Density Suburban Residential  

 

The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 

middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.  

 

Special exception uses shall include: 

  

1) Institutional uses of five acres or less  

 

2)  High schools 

 

3)  Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of two acres or more 

 

4)  Horticultural nurseries as a primary use;  

 

Planned Development uses may include:  

 

(1) All primary uses  

 

(2)  All special exception uses  

 

(3)  Neighborhood commercial uses at a rate not in excess of 25 square feet of gross floor area per 

residential unit in the PUD. Commercial uses must be completely internalized within the PUD.  

 

(4)  Other uses deemed compatible with and complementary to the other proposed master planned 

uses and the surrounding neighborhoods 

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 

increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  

Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 

Agreement  

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 3 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by Carlos Verduzco 

and located at 1175 Oakpoint Road. 
 
Planning Commission Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed Future Land Use amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and 
recommend approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from “County” Low Density 
Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 
 

Note: This item is considered legislative and establishes general policy.  The staff report and its 

findings are to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” PUD  Single Family Home 

East  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP)  “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 

 

The subject property currently contains one dwelling unit, which makes the request for a Residential Very 

Low Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, 

as well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 

 

Properties in all four cardinal directions are of a sparse residential nature. The Future Land Use designation, 

“Residential Very Low Suburban” preserves a sparse residential nature.  

 

The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future 

land use character of the surrounding area.  

 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No 

 

 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 

on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed 

FLUM Amendment request for a change from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very 

Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  William D. Cook 

and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust are the property owners of the proposed future land use amendment 

and proposed change of zoning for the property, and have been notified of the hearing schedule.   

 

 Transportation: Road access to the site is from Oakpoint Circle 

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 5 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   

 

Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is a single family home. 

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC). Based on the housing 

element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 

 

CALCULATIONS: 

ADOPTED: 4 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 10 persons 

PROPOSED: 2 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h =   5 persons 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is not 

required for developments less than ten (10) acres in size.   

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:    784     GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   392   GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 6 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     1,816   GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    908    GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     40    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   20    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None         



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 7 

 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 

capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.030  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.015    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

  

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 

parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development.    This 

initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development 

approval. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 8 

 

 
Carlos Verduzco 

1.14 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-7328-00-080 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 10 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 11 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - CARLOS VERDUZCO 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING: 

  FROM: “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) 

  TO: “CITY” RCE-1 (RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATES) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNERS: Carlos Verduzco 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka  

  

LOCATION: 1175 Oakpoint Circle 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-080 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family House 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family House 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with a 

request to amend the Future Land Use from “County” Low Density Residential (4 
du/ac) to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.14 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    2 Dwelling Units 

    PROPOSED:  1 Dwelling Units 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by Ordinance Number 2517.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The RCE-1 zoning is compatible 
with the property due to the size and uses. The change of zoning request is being processed in conjunction 
with a future land use amendment from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/Acre) Future Land Use designation and the 
City’s RCE-1 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the density allowed by the Future Land 
Use policies.  

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 

increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  

Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 

Agreement  

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Carlos Verduzco, 
and located at 1175 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Recommended Motion: Find the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, and recommend approval of the proposed Change 
of Zoning from “County” A-2 to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Carlos Verduzco, and located at 
1175 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “County” Low Density Residential  “County” RCE Single Family Home 

East  “County” Low Density Residential  “County” A-1 Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP) “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from Oakpoint Circle. The subject 

property, along with other properties in the vicinity, are of a large-lot, 

residential nature. The requirements found in RCE-1 zoning, along 

with the Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use can assist 

in maintaining a large-lot, sparse density nature.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 

DU/AC) and with the character of the surrounding area and future 

proposed development. Development Plans shall not exceed the 

density allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 4 

 

Carlos Verduzco 
1.14 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 
To: “City” RCE-1 

Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-7328-00-080 
 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGE OF ZONING - VERDUZCO 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Aerial Map 

    Kelly Park Interchange Area 

    WPIVP1 Character Districts 

    Comp Plan Objectives 

    JPA Amendment No. 2 
  

 

SUBJECT:  COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – 

FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT: 

  FROM: RURAL SETTLEMENT ( 0-1 DU/AC) AND “COUNTY” RURAL (1 DU/5 AC) 

  TO: MIXED USE INTERCHANGE 
  
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNER:   Cantero Holdings, LLC 
 
APPLICANT: Jimmy D. Crawford, Esq. 
 
LOCATION: 3845 & 4011 Golden Gem Road 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS: Parcel 1:  13-20-27-0000-00-054 

Parcel 2:  24-20-27-0000-00-097 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant 
  
CURRENT ZONING:  “City” Agriculture Estates (81 ac +/-) and  

“County” A-1 (Zoning in Progress) (10.5 ac +/-) 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Mixed Use - Interchange Zoning District with Neighborhood Overlay Zone (0-5 du/ac) 
 
TRACT SIZES:   91.57 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE  
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: Parcel 1 – One residential home 

Parcel 2 -- Approved residential subdivision plan (with 12, five-acre 
lots), Golden Gem Estates   

 
PROPOSED: Max. 457 residential units 

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

                                                 
1 WPIVP = Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: The applicant requests a future land use designation of “City” Mixed Use 
Interchange for two parcels along the east side of Golden Gem Road.  Parcel 1 (10.5 ac +/-) annexed into 
the City on August 5, 2015 but has not had a “city” future land use designation or zoning assigned to it.  
Parcel 2 annexed into the City on December 1, 2004.  
 
Parcel 1 (10.5 ac +/-) has planted pine on the western third of the parcel and vacant land on the eastern two-
thirds of the parcel.  The eastern portion of the parcel is a former horticultural nursery operation.  Parcel 1 
is not included within the boundaries of the Golden Gem Estates Preliminary Development Plan., which is 
described below for Parcel 2. 
 
Parcel 2 (81 ac +/-) was approved with a Preliminary Development Plan (called Golden Gem Estates) for a 
12-lot residential subdivision in August 2015. Typical lot size in Golden Gem Estates is five acres.  A Mass 
Grading Plan was approved by the City Council on August 5, 201516 as a phased portion of the Final 
Development Plan application.  Clearing and grading occurred to allow the transfer of excess fill off site. 
 
The parcel straddles the boundaries of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area, as depicted in 
the Future Land Use Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, and the Kelly Park Interchange Form-
Based Code  
 
Policy 20.9, Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan, requires that a Mixed Use-Interchange 
future a land use designation must be assigned to the property.  
 
The subject parcels are located within the one-mile radius from the Wekiva Parkway interchange at Kelly 
Park Road; and therefore is required to adhere to the Kelly Park Crossing Form Based Code.  The properties 
are located within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area.  Therefore, the property must comply 
with Objectives 18 – 20 and related policies within the Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive 
Plan and the recently adopted Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code.  The applicant’s request is consistent 
with the Mixed Use Interchange future land use designation and the Overlay District covering the property 
within the Vision Plan. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area, is within one mile of the SR 429/Kelly Park Road interchange, and is 
consistent with the Mixed Use Interchange Land Use designation.  City planning staff supports the FLUM 
amendment given the consistency with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed below and the intent of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan a (see Land Use Analysis below).   Site development cannot 
exceed the intensity allowed by the Future Land Use policies.  
 
Future Land Use Element 
 

1. Policy 3.1.r The primary intent of the Mixed Use land use category is to allow a mixture of 
residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, institutional and public facilities uses to serve 
the residential and non-residential needs of special areas of the City.  The mix of land uses may occur 
on a single parcel or multiple parcels … 
 
The designation of a mixed use category may occur only in certain areas of the city, including “land 
anticipated for inclusion within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Land Use Plan…” These 
properties are within the 1-mile radius of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange depicted on the Wekiva 
Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Map located within the Future Land Use Element of the Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 

2. Policy 18.1 The City shall implement the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, which guides 
the location of a range of uses, such as residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, public 
and institutional, at various densities and intensities around the proposed interchange. 

 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 3 

 
The proposed Mixed Use Future Land Use Designation allows for residential densities and non-
residential uses and intensities to implement the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, 
consistent with Objective 18 and related policies.  
 

3. Policy 18.2 Prior to rezoning any property within a one-mile radius of the interchange Study Area, 
the City shall amend its LDC to incorporate development standards that will implement the Vision 
Plan. 
 
This future land use amendment does not include a corresponding proposed zoning category because 
the City has yet to adopt development standards or form-based code consistent with this policy.  
Future densities/intensities and design character for the subject properties will be regulated at the 
time of rezoning once Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan design standards and form-based 
code are adopted.   
 

4. Policy 20.4 Prior to approving the first development plan with the Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
vision Plan Area, the City shall adopt the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Form-Based Cod establishing 
the design and development standards for the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area. 
 
The subject properties will be required to comply with the above policy should the development 
submit a development plan to ensure consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Wekiva Parkway 
Interchange Vision Plan. 
 

5. Policy 20.9 Development within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area shall be assigned a 
Mixed-Use Interchange future land use designation and shall accomplish an overall mix of residential 
and non-residential uses as outline in Policy 3.1.r.  Assignment of the Mixed-Use Interchange Land 
Use future land use designation shall require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The applicant’s request for a Mixed Use future land use designation is consistent with this policy, 
as well as the intent of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan area, which intends to 
concentrate a mixture of land uses with varying densities and intensities within one mile of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange. 
 

6. Policy 20.3.  The annexation, land use change, and subsequent development of lands located within 
the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area for Apopka and the Wekiva Interchange Land Use Plan 
Overlay for the County shall be consistent with the adopted Interlocal Agreement between Orange 
County and the City of Apopka regarding Wekiva Interchange Land Use Plan Overlay. 
 

7. Objective 19 and 20, and their associated policies.  See objectives and policies within the 
supporting information. 

 
Transportation Element 
 

1. Policy 4.2 The City of Apopka shall promote, through the implementation of programs such as 
mixed-use land development, projects that support reduced travel demand, short trip lengths and 
balanced trip demand. 
 
The Mixed Use future land use designation allows for a mixture of land use types such as residential 
and non-residential, which promotes shorter trip lengths, concentrated development to reduce travel 
demand. 
 

2. Policy 3.1.r The primary intent of the Mixed Use land use category is to allow a mixture of 
residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, institutional uses and public facilities 
uses…This mix of land uses may occur on a single parcel or multiple parcels in the form of: a 
permitted single use; a vertical combination of different permitted uses; or a horizontal mix of 
different permitted uses. 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 4 

 
3. Policy 4.2 The City of Apopka shall promote, through the implementation of programs such as 

mixed-use land development, projects that support reduced travel demand, shorter trip lengths and 
balanced trip demand. 
 

4. Objective 20 and associated Policies, Future Land Use Element.  Provided with the Supporting 
Information. 

 
Kelly Park Interchange Form-Based Code.  
 
1. Page 1 – “Therefore, if a site, or any portion of a site, is within the 1-mile radius [of the Kelly Park 

Interchange], the entire site is included within the vision plan and is subject to the standards.”  And 
Page 2, “Where a property straddles the line, the subject property owner may select to bring the 
portion outside the property into the Form-Base Code area.” 

 
VISIONING AND SPECIAL STUDIES:  The properties are located within the boundaries of the Wekiva 
Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area, making it subject to the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code, 
Mixed- Use Interchange Zoning District and Neighborhood Overlay District.  A copy of the Wekiva 
Parkway Interchange Vision Plan is provided with the support material. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:   An executed capacity enhancement agreement with Orange County 
Public Schools will be required prior to rezoning hearings, as density occurring on a property located within 
the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area (aka Kelly Park Interchange Area) is not determined 
until the zoning and master plan, per Policy 20.12 of the Future Land Use Element, Comprehensive Plan. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 
any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018. 
Notification has already occurred through the Second Amendment to the Joint Planning Agreement with 
Orange County government.  The second amendment acknowledges that the City will assign a land use 
designation similar to the overlay district illustrated in the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
November 13, 2018 – Planning Commission (5:30 pm)  
December 5 – City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief, posting, letters) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval to transmit a change in Future Land Use to 

Mixed Use Interchange for the property owned by Cantero Holdings, LLC, subject to the information and 

findings in the staff report. 

 

Recommended Motion:  Find the Future Land Use Designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 

and recommend a change in Future Land Use Designation to Mixed Use Interchange for the properties 

owned by Cantero Holdings, LLC subject to the information and findings in the staff report. 

 

Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 5 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

 
I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” Mixed Use Interchange and  
“County” Rural 

“County” A-1 (ZIP) Greenhouse, pine forests, and 
grasslands 

East  “City” Rural Settlement and  
Mixed Use Interchange 

“City” Agriculture Mobile Home and Vacant 

South “City” Rural Settlement “City” Agriculture and  
“County” A-1 (ZIP) 

Pine forests and City of Apopka 
stormwater retention pond 

West  “County” Rural “County” A-1 Private Landfill 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 
Analysis for the Future Land Use Designation was performed as part of the adopted Wekiva Parkway 
Interchange Vision Plan.  This Vision Plan has been incorporated into the Comprehensive Plan.  The subject 
property straddles the one-mile radius from the interchange, and the property owner has selected to pull the 
entire property into the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code Area (aka Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
Vision Plan Area). 
 
Therefore, the proposed Mixed Use Interchange future land use designation is consistent with the general 
future land use character and long-range planning goals of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area: Yes 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 
on October 26, 2004 and amended the JPA in October 19, 2010 to address the Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
Vision Plan.  The subject property is consistent with the Vision Plan incorporated into Amendment 2 of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
 
 Transportation:  Road access to the site is from Golden Gem Road. 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 
adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 
adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 
reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 
Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and storm water run-off through the 
following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2; Objective 19, 20. 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that the parcels appear to occur within an area having a potential for  karst features. 
  
Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the property is vacant.  The property straddles 
the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area, and the property is eligible to be part of the Kelly Park 
Interchange Form-Based Code.   As such, a master plan must be provided with the zoning application, and 
road and pedestrian systems must be connected to an integrated with other lands within the Form-Based 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 6 

 
Code area.  Property to the south is a retention pond owned by the City of Apopka and a single family home 
parcel.   Lands to the north and northeast are located within the Kelly Park Crossing Development of 
Regional Impact and the Kelly Park Interchange Form-Base Code. 
  
Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: Based on the adoption of the 
JPA, the size of the property, and the proposed land use change, the amendment will increase the population 
by as many as 994 residents.  The applicant proposes to develop the property as single family residential 
subdivision. Land use analysis was conducted as part of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
 
CALCULATIONS: 
 
 ADOPTED: 83 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 220 persons   

PROPOSED: 457 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 1,215 persons 
   
 Housing Needs:  The housing need is demonstrated through the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision 
Plan Area Study. 
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 
for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary 
Development Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and 
submit a habitat management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project 
site. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. The road system shall be consistent with the 
intent of the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code. 
 
 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD 
/ Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  16,268    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    89,572  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 
None 

 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 
GPD / Capita 

  
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     17,430  GPD 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 7 

 
3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   95,970  GPD 

 
4. Capacity available: Yes 

 
5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 
6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 
7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 
 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes    
 
 Solid Waste 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 
 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 
Apopka 

 
3. Projected LOS under existing designation:       880    lbs/  day 

 
4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:    4,860    lbs /  day 

 
5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None  
 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None      
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
  
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 8 

 
Recreation 

 
1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 

 
2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.660   acres 

 
3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  3.645    acres 

 
4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 9 

 

 Cantero Holdings, LLC 
91.57 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: Rural Settlement and Rural 

To: Mixed Use Interchange 
Parcel ID #: 13-20-27-0000-00-054 & 24-20-27-0000-00-097 

  
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 11 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 12 

 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

PAGE 13 

 

 

WEKIVA PARKWAY INTERCHANGE VISION PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Character district boundaries are illustrative only.  See Policy 20.5 for additional information. 

Subject Properties 

Source:  Apopka Comprehensive Plan, 2011; page 1-54 























































 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

– CARROL M. HAMRICK 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – 

FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT: 

  FROM: RESIDENTIAL ESTATES (0-1 DU/AC) 

  TO: RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:   Carrol M Hamrick 
 
APPLICANT:   PMDW Ventures, LLC 
 
LOCATION: North of West Ponkan Road, west of Mt. Sterling Avenue  
 
PARCEL ID #(S): 21-20-28-0000-00-019 & 21-20-28-0000-00-022 
 
EXISTING USE:  Vacant 
 
DEVELOPMENT  
POTENTIAL:   Up to 70 Single Family Houses 
 
CURRENT ZONING: R-1AA (Single Family Residential)  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: R-1AA (Single Family Residential)   
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING FLU: 35 Dwelling Units 
FLUM:    PROPOSED FLU: 70 Dwelling Units 
 
TRACT SIZE:   35.21 +/- acres  
 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The applicant intends to use the subject properties for a single family 
residential subdivision, and requests the City to assign a future land use designation of Residential Very 
Low Suburban to the property.  
 
The subject properties were annexed into the City on July 18, 1990 via Ordinance No. 624.  Pursuant to 
Florida law, properties ten acres or more are required to undergo review by State planning agencies. 
 
A request to assign a Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban is compatible with 
the designations assigned to abutting properties.  The FLUM application covers approximately 35.21 acres.  

 
Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Uses: 
 

“The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary 
schools; middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.” 

 
In conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that 
adequate public facilities exist to support this land use change (see attached Land Use Report).  Based on 
the findings of the Land Use report, the proposed FLUM amendment is compatible with the surrounding 
and nearby land uses and the character of the general area. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 
Residential Very Low Suburban designation.  Policy 3.5, Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive 
Plan governs the following” “Residential development north of Ponkan Road and west of Rock Springs 
Road (Park Avenue) will be restricted to no more than two dwelling units per acre, unless otherwise 
authorized through the adopted Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan.” 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  School Capacity determination must be addressed with Orange County 

Public Schools prior to adoption of the future land use amendment.  Applicant must provide a capacity 

enhancement agreement or a letter of capacity determination from OCPS prior to the City Council adoption 

hearing. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 
December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
November 2, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) and Notification (letters and posting) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and recommends transmittal of the change 
in Future Land Use from Residential Estates (0-1 du/ac) to Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) for 
the properties owned by Carrol M Hamrick. 
 
Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and recommend transmittal of the Future Land Use 
Map designation from Residential Estates (0-1 du/ac) to Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) to the 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. 
 

Note: This item is considered legislative and establishes general policy.  The staff report and its 

findings are to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 3 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Residential Estates (0-1 DU/AC) PUD Rock Springs Ridge Subdivision 

East (City) Residential Estates (0-1 DU/AC) PUD Rock Springs Ridge Subdivision 

South (City) Mixed Use Mixed-CC Vacant 

West (County) Rural A-1 Single Family House 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 

The applicant intends to use this site for a single family residential subdivision. 

 

North: Abutting the subject property to the north is Rock Springs Ridge Phase 2, a single family 

subdivision. 

 

West: The property to the west is moderately wooded and has one single family house. 

 

South: The property is vacant. 

 

East: To the east is the aforementioned Rock Springs Ridge Phase 2 

 

The proposed future land use designation of Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) is consistent with 

the surrounding future land use designations and policy 3.5 in the City’s Comprehensive Plan: Residential 

development north of Ponkan Road and west of Rock Springs Road (Park Avenue) will be restricted to no 

more than two dwelling units per acre, unless otherwise authorized through the adopted Wekiva Parkway 

Interchange Plan. 

 

Therefore, staff supports the proposed future land use changes. 
 
Other Information:  

  
Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 

 
Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act:   The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  While located within the Wekiva River Basin 
Study Area, the subject property is not located within the Protection Area. The proposed amendment is 
consistent with the adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
amendment has been reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater 
resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater 
run-off through the following policies: 
 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 4 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that karst features are within the vicinity of this property. 
 
 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The properties abut Mt. Sterling Avenue and Rock Springs 
Ridge Ph. 2 to the east. City parcels to the north and east have a maximum allowable residential density of 
1 dwelling unit per acre. Due to the previously mentioned, Comprehensive Plan, Policy 3.5, the maximum 
allowable residential density of the south-adjacent Mixed Use parcels is 2 dwelling units per acre. 
Subsequently, the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban, also allows a maximum density of 2 dwelling 
units per acre. Thus, staff finds the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use to be 
compatible with the property, and within the vicinity.  
 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 
land use designation for the subject site is Residential Very Low Suburban (0 – 2 du/ac).   An amendment 
to the Future Land Use of Residential Very Low Suburban Density will generate an estimated population 
increase of up to 93 persons. Based on the housing element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this 
amendment will increase the City’s future population, but a housing supply is needed to meet the growing 
population.  
 
CALCULATIONS: 
 
EXISTING: Residential Estates (0-1 DU/AC, 35.21 AC)  
  35 D/U X 2.659 p/h = 93 persons 
 
PROPOSED: Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) 
  70 D/U x 2.659 p/h = 186 persons 
  Net Increase= 93 Persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: Per policy 4.1 of the 
Conservation Element, a habitat study is required for developments ten (10) acres or more in size.  This site 
is greater than ten acres.  A habitat study will be required at the time of a development plan application. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 Potable Water, Reclaimed Water & Sanitary Sewer Analysis: The subject property is located within 
the City of Apopka service area for potable water, reclaimed water and sanitary service.    
 

 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD 

/ Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  6,860    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    13,720  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 5 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     7,350  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   14,700  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes    

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     372    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:    744    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None      

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.279  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.558    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 7 

 

Carrol M. Hamirck 
25.21 +/- acres  

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Residential Estates 

To: Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) 
Parcel ID #s: 20-20-28-0000-00-022; 21-20-28-0000-00-019  

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 8 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - HAMRICK 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

 OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Concept Plan 
  

 

SUBJECT:  COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

– RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – 

FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT: 

  FROM: RESIDENTIAL LOW AND RESIDENTIAL LOW SUBURBAN 

  TO: RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM LOW DENSITY (0-7.5 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:   Radam Investment, LLC 
 
APPLICANT:   Jonathan Huels, Esq. 
 
LOCATION: North of Apopka Boulevard and west of South Lake Pleasant Road 
 
PARCEL ID #(S): 23-21-28-0000-00-029, -030, -043 
 
EXISTING USE:  3 Single Family Homes 
 
DEVELOPMENT  
POTENTIAL:   Up to 235 Dwelling Units 
 
CURRENT ZONING: R-1AA (Single Family Residential) and ZIP (Zoning in Progress) 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Planned Unit Development  
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING FLU: 88 Dwelling Units 
FLUM:    PROPOSED FLU: 153 Dwelling Units 
 
TRACT SIZE:   23.52 +/- acres  
 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The applicant intends to use the subject properties for a multi-family complex, 
and requests the City to assign a future land use designation of Residential Medium Low to the property.  
 
The subject properties were annexed into the City on September 17, 2003 via Ordinance No. 1606 and on 
October 17, 1990 via Ordinance No. 634.  The proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment is being 
requested by the owner/applicant.  Pursuant to Florida law, properties ten acres or more are required to undergo 
review by State planning agencies. 
 
A request to assign a Future Land Use Designation of Residential Medium Low is compatible with the 
designations assigned to abutting properties.  The FLUM application covers approximately 23.52 acres.  

 
Residential Medium Low Future Land Uses: 
 

“The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 7.5 dwelling units per acre, elementary 
schools; middle schools; high schools; supporting infrastructure of less than five acres.” 

 
In conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that adequate 
public facilities exist to support this land use change (see attached Land Use Report).  Based on the findings of 
the Land Use report, the proposed FLUM amendment is compatible with the surrounding and nearby land uses 
and the character of the general area. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 
Residential Medium Low designation. 
 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  An executed capacity enhancement agreement or a letter of capacity 

determination with Orange County Public Schools will be required prior to adoption of the future land use 

amendment. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before any 
public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on July 19, 2018. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 
December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
November 2, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) and Notification (letters and posting) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and recommends transmittal of the change in Future 
Land Use from Residential Low (0-5 du/ac) and Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 du/ac) to Residential Medium 
Low (0-7.5 du/ac) for the properties owned by Radam Investment, LLC. 
 
Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and recommend transmittal of the Future Land Use Map 
designation from Residential Low and Residential Low Suburban to Residential Medium Low to the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity. 

 

Note: This item is considered legislative and establishes general policy.  The staff report and its 

findings are to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 3 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) “County” Low Density Residential A-1 Grasslands 

East (City 
and County) 

“County” Low Density Residential A-1 Single Family Home/Retention Pond 

South 
(County) 

“City” Residential Medium Low PUD Chelsea Parc Subdivision  
(40-foot wide typical  lots) 

West 
(County) 

“City” Residential Low  
and “County” Low Density 

Residential 

A-1,  
R-1AA, 

R-2 

Lake Pleasant; Single Family Homes 
and Lake Pleasant Cove Subdivision 

(typical 70-ft. wide lots) 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 

The applicant intends to use this site for a multi-family complex. 

 

North: Abutting the subject property to the north is a vacant property. 

 

West: The properties to the west are single family homes and Lake Pleasant and Lake Pleasant Cove 

Subdivision. 

 

South: South Apopka Boulevard and Chelsea Parc Subdivision. 

 

East: To the east is a single family house and Lake Pleasant Road. 

 

The proposed future land use designation of Residential Medium (0-7.5 du/ac) is consistent with the 

surrounding future land use designations to the west and south, considering the proposed use, and with 

current uses along Hermit Smith Road. 

 

Therefore, staff supports the proposed future land use changes. 
 

Other Information:  
  

Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 

 
Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act:   The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  While located within the Wekiva River Basin 
Study Area, the subject property is not located within the Protection Area. The proposed amendment is 
consistent with the adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
amendment has been reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater 
resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater 
run-off through the following policies: 
 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 4 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that karst features are within the vicinity of this property. 
 
 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The properties abut S. Apopka Boulevard. Across S. 
Apopka Boulevard is the Chelsea Parc subdivision where the typical lot width is 32’, with Residential 
Medium Low Future Land Use.  
 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 
land use designation for the subject site is Residential Medium Low (0 – 7.5 du/ac).   A change to a 
residential land use of Medium Low Density will generate an estimated population increase up to 406 
persons. Based on the housing element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will increase the 
City’s future population, but a housing supply is needed to meet the growing population.  
 
CALCULATIONS: 
 
EXISTING:  Residential Low (0-5 DU/AC, 4.026 AC) 

Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 DU/AC, 19.492 AC) 
  88 D/U X 2.659 p/h = 233 persons 
PROPOSED:  Residential Medium Low (0-7.5 DU/AC, 20.52 AC: Developable Area) 

7.5 DU/AC x 20.52 = 153 max DU 
  153 D/U x 2.659 p/h = 624 persons 
  Net Increase= 406 Persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: Per policy 4.1 of the 
Conservation Element, a habitat study is required for developments ten (10) acres or more in size.  This site 
is greater than ten acres.  A habitat study will be required at the time of a development plan application. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 Potable Water, Reclaimed Water & Sanitary Sewer Analysis: The subject property is located within 
the City of Apopka service area for potable water, reclaimed water and sanitary service.    
 

 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD 

/ Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  17,248    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    46,060  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 5 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     39,952  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   106,690  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     932    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   2,496    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:   Lake Pleasant 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 25 year – 96 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 25 year – 96 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.699  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  1.872    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 7 

 
Radam Investment LLC 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Residential Low and Residential Low Suburban 

To: Residential Medium Low (0-7.5 DU/AC) 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: R-1AA & A-1 (ZIP)  
To: Planned Unit Development (PUD) 

Parcel ID #s: 23-21-28-0000-00-029, -030, -043  
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 8 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 















 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Master Sign Plan Amendment  Aerial Map 

    Proposed Master Sign Plan 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ADVENT HEALTH MASTER SIGN PLAN AMENDMENT 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE ADVENT HEALTH MASTER 

SIGN PLAN AMENDMENT 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:   Adventist Health System/Sunbelt Inc. 

APPLICANT:   Icon c/o Jessica Stein 

LOCATION: 2100 Ocoee Apopka Road 

PARCEL ID #:  20-21-28-0000-00-007 

ZONING: PUD (Planned Unit Development) 

EXISTING USE: Hospital Complex 

TRACT SIZE:   33.71 +/- acres/1468407.6 +/- square feet  

BUILDING SIZE:  465,904 Gross Floor Area 

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 
ADVENT HEALTH – MASTER SIGN PLAN AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Mixed Use A-1(Zoning in Progress) CFX Right-of-Way (ROW) 

East (City) Mixed Use Mixed-EC (Employment Center) Emerson Park 

South (City) Industrial I-1 (Restricted Industrial) Vacant 

West (City) Mixed Use Mixed-EC CFX ROW 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY:  The Advent Health Master Sign Plan Amendment, previously named Florida 
Hospital Master Sign Plan includes new proposed signage for the entire complex.   Through the proposed 
amendment to the Master Sign Plan, the applicant is requesting an increase the number of ground signs and 
wall sign size from one fifteen foot tall ground sign to three ground signs at 15 feet in height and from two 
100-square feet of copy area of wall signs to 336 square feet of copy area for each wall sign.  The Proposed 
sign elevations appear within the Master Sign Plan package.  
 
MASTER SIGN PLAN CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 

1. To meet the intent of the sign ordinance, the Master Sign Plan Amendment for the Florida Hospital 
(aka Advent Health Systems) site shall be subject to the following conditions: 
 

a. An approved variance shall be required to increase the previously approved two wall signs 
at 100 square feet each to 336 square feet each of copy area. 
 

b. Electronic reader boards are not allowed within any monument sign along both frontages. 
LDC Section. 8.04.08 
 

c. No portable trailer signs shall be allowed for any business within Advent Health. LDC 
Section 8.04.13 
 

d. No human signs shall be allowed for any business within Advent Health. LDC Section 
8.05.02(F) 

 
APPLICANT REQUEST:  Through the Master Sign Plan Amendment, the applicant is requesting 
approval of the following and the exempt “emergency” wall sign: 
 

1. Three illuminated ground signs at 15 feet in height with a total copy area of 297 square feet. 
 

2. Nine illuminated directional signs at six feet tall.  Each sign shall have a copy area of 24.75 square 
feet for a total of 222.75 square feet. 
 

3. One illuminated directional sign at eight feet tall with a copy area of 33 square feet. 
 

4. One non-illuminated directional sign at a height of five height with a total of 20.63 square feet of 
copy area. 
 

5. Four non-illuminated directional signs at a height of four feet each for a total of 47.5 square feet of 
copy area. 
 

6. Two illuminated wall signage each at 336 square feet of copy area.  A variance application shall be 
approved by the Planning Commission to increase previously approved wall signs from 100 square 
feet for each to 336 square feet of copy area for each sign.   



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 
ADVENT HEALTH – MASTER SIGN PLAN AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 
7. The “emergency” sign shall remain exempt per Section 8.02(C) of the Land Development Code 

(LDC). 

FINDINGS:  In granting approval of the Master Sign Plan for ADVENT HEALTH, the City of Apopka 
finds: 
 

1. The Master Sign Plan Amendment application for ADVENT HEALTH, formerly known as Florida 
Hospital, has been submitted and reviewed by planning staff.  Planning Staff does not object to the 
Master Sign Plan Amendment as proposed subject to the Master Sign Plan Conditions of Approval 
appearing in the staff report.   
 

2. A variance for the proposed two wall sign must be reviewed at a public hearing before the Planning 
Commission prior to the wall signs increasing from 100 square feet each to 336 square feet each 
sign of copy area.  The proposed wall signs only become part of the sign master plan if a variance 
is approved by the Planning Commission. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission, 5:30 p.m. 

December 5, 2018 - City Council, 1:30 p.m.  

  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Advent Health Master Sign Plan 

Amendment subject to the findings of this staff report and conditions of approval. 

 

Planning Commission:   Find the Advent Health Master Sign Plan amendment consistent with the Land 

Development Code, and recommend approval of the master sign plan amendment, subject to the findings 

of this staff report and conditions of approval. 

 
Planning Commission Role:  Authority is granted in Article VIII of the Land Development Code to the 
Planning Commission for final action regarding a Master Sign Plan. 

  
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 
ADVENT HEALTH – MASTER SIGN PLAN AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

Owner:  Adventist Health System/Sunbelt Inc. 

Applicant:  Icon c/o Jessica Stein 

Parcel ID Nos.:   20-21-28-0000-00-007 

Address:  2100 Ocoee Apopka Road 

Total area:  33.71 acre(s) +/- 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

Subject Property 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 
ADVENT HEALTH – MASTER SIGN PLAN AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 

 

 

Subject Property 

















































 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

 PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: November 13, 2018 

X SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan  Site Location Map 

    Aerial Map 
  

 

SUBJECT:  FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL SITE 

PLAN – LAKE GEM COMMERCE INDUSTRIAL PARK LOT 8 

   

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

FOR SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL SITE PLAN – LAKE GEM 

COMMERCE INDUSTRIAL PARK LOT 8 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Property Industrial Enterprises, LLC c/o Michael R. Cooper 

ENGINEER:   Ken Ehlers, P.E. 

LOCATION: 655 Gem Commerce Court 

PARCEL ID #:  09-21-28-4453-08-000 

FUTURE LAND USE: Industrial 

ZONING: PUD (Planned Unit Development)/I-1 

EXISTING USE: Vacant 

PROPOSED USE: Industrial/Lot 8 within Lake Gem Commerce Park (Total of 12 Lots) 

TRACT SIZE:   0.56 +/- acres; 26,245 +/- square feet  

BUILDING SIZE:  4,000 square feet (1,150 square feet of manufacturing and 2,850 square feet 
of office) 

FLOOR AREA RATIO Proposed 0.22; Maximum 0.60 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL SITE PLAN – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 2 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Railroad/Commercial Railroad/I-1 Railroad/Vacant 

East (City) Industrial I-1 Vacant 

South (City) Industrial Right-of-Way/I-1 Marshall Lake Road/Single Family 

Residence/Horticulture/Vacant 

West (City) Conservation\Industrial I-1 Vacant 

 
Project Use:  The Special Ops Tactical - Final Development Plan is a site plan proposing a 4,000 square 

feet one-story building at 28 feet in height to be used for kite manufacturing. Located within the PUD/I-1 

zoning district, Special Ops Tactical is Lot 8 of the Lake Gem Industrial Park contains 26,245 square feet 

of lot area.  Lake Gem Commerce complies with the development standards for I-1 zoning district but 

allowed for a building height of up 50 feet.  

 

The minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 

 

Setback 
Min. 

Standard 

Front* 25’ 

Side 10’ 

Rear 10’* 

Corner 25’ 

*30 feet setback from residential uses or zoning districts. 

 
Access/Parking:  Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via Gem Commerce Court with 
full access onto Marshall Lake Road.  Fourteen parking spaces are provided, including one handicap 
accessible parking space, while thirteen are required by Code. 
 
Transportation:  A transportation impact analysis (TIA) was conducted for the Lake Gem Industrial Park 

to assess the impacts of the total project on the surrounding roadway segments and intersections within a 

one-mile radius of the project per the City’s adopted TIA methodology. Special Ops Tactical, located on 

Lot 10, is one of the 12 lots located in the Lake Gem Industrial Park project.  Included in the analysis were 

segments of Bradshaw Road, Marshall Lake Road, and W 1st Street. The intersection of Bradshaw Road 

and Lake Marshall Road along with the site entrance on Lake Marshall Road were also analyzed.  

 

The Lake Gem Industrial Park project will generate 627 Daily trips and 87 P.M. Peak Hour trips. Marshall 

Lake Building Lot 10 will generate 52 Daily trips and 7 P.M. Peak Hour trips. The addition of the project 

trips for the entire Lake Gem Industrial Park to the study roadways will not cause the Level of Service 

(LOS) to fall below the City’s adopted LOS. The intersection of Bradshaw Road and Marshall Lake Road 

and the site entrance will operate at acceptable Levels of Service with the addition of project generated 

traffic. 
 
STORMWATER:  The stormwater management system includes an on-site retention area on the western 
portion of the Lake Gem Commerce Industrial Park.  The stormwater pond design has been previously 
reviewed under the Lake Gem Commerce Park and meets the City’s Land Development Code requirements. 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL SITE PLAN – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 3 

 

LANDSCAPING AND BUFFER:  A 25-foot wide landscaped buffer and oak trees are provided along 

Gem Commerce Court.  A Crepe Myrtle is provided for the parking landscape island, which is 

approximately 10-feet in width and matches the length of the adjacent parking spaces. 

 

BUILDING EXTERIOR:   Architectural renderings (pictures) of the exterior of the building will look like 

are provided within the site plan.  The building exterior is similar to other buildings within the Cooper 

industrial parks along Bradshaw Road, and it meets the intent of the City’s development design 

standards/guidelines. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The County was notified at the time of the subdivision plan and 

plat for this property through the DRC agenda distribution.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission, 5:30 p.m. 

December 5, 2018 - City Council, 1:30 p.m.  
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Special Ops Tactical – Final 

Development Plan subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

Planning Commission:   Find the Special Ops Tactical – Final Development Plan consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code, and recommend approval of the Special Ops Tactical – 

Final Development, subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

Planning Commission Role: The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to 

advise the City Council to approve, deny, or approve with conditions based on consistency with the 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code.     

  
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL SITE PLAN – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 4 

 

Owner:  Property Industrial Enterprises, LLC c/o Michael R. Cooper 

Applicant:  Ken Ehlers, P.E. 

Parcel ID Nos.:   09-21-28-4453-08-000 

Address:  655 Gem Commerce Court 

Total area:  0.56 acre(s) +/- 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

Subject Property 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL SITE PLAN – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 5 

 

SITE LOCATION MAP 

 

 

  

Subject Property 



PLANNING COMMISSION – NOVEMBER 13, 2018 

SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL SITE PLAN – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 6 

 

AERIAL MAP 

 

 

 

 
 

Subject Property 












	Top
	1 11-13-18 - PC - Minutes - October 23, 2018
	PC 10-23-18 Minutes.docx

	1. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin FLUM - Bankson
	1 AdminFLU Bankson PC 11-13-2018 - R.pdf

	2. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin Change of Zoning - Bankson
	1 AdminRZ Bankson PC 11-13-2018 - R.pdf

	3. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin FLUM - Cook
	2 Admin FLU Cook PC 11-13-2018 - R.pdf

	4. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin Change of Zoning - Cook
	2 AdminRZ Cook PC 11-13-2018 - R.pdf

	5. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin FLUM - Nelson
	3 AdminFLU Nelson PC 9-19-2018 - R.pdf

	6. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin Change of Zoning - Nelson
	3 AdminRZ Nelson PC 11-13-2018 - R.pdf

	7. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin FLUM - Prasad
	5 Prasad FLU PC 11-13-2018 - C.pdf

	8. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin Change of Zoning - Presad
	5 Prasad RZ PC 11-13-2018 - R.pdf

	9. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin FLUM - Verduzco
	4 AdminFLU Verduzco PC 11-13-2018 - R.pdf

	10. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Admin Change of Zoning - Verduzco
	4 AdminRZ Verduzco PC 11-13-2018 -R.pdf

	11. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Large Scale FLUM - Cantero Holdings, LLC
	1 Cantero FLU PC 11-13-2018.pdf
	2 WPIVP Character Districts Description.pdf
	4 JPA 2nd Amend_Signed.pdf
	3 Future Land Use Element_Policy 18.pdf

	12. 11-13-18 - PC - Publlic Hearing - Large Scale FLUM - Hamrick
	Hamrick FLU PC 11-13-2018.pdf

	13. 11-13-18 - PC - Public Hearing - Large Scale FLUM - Radam Investment LLC
	1 Radam FLU PC 11-13-2018.pdf
	2 Radam Concept Plan.pdf

	1. 11-13-18 - PC - Site Plan - Advent Health Master Sign Plan
	1 Advent Health Master Sign Plan Amendment - PC - 11.13.2018.pdf
	2 Advent Apopka Signage Narrative &amp;amp; Proposal 11.6.2018.pdf

	2. 11-13-18 - PC - Site Plan - Final Development Plan - Special Ops Tactical
	1 Special Ops Tactical Lot 8 Lake Gem FDP - PC - 11.13.2018.pdf
	2 Special Ops Tactical - Lake Gem Lot 8 - FDP.pdf

	Bottom

